1985

# Lloyd L. Moore v. American Coal Company, kna Emory Mining Corp., Utah State Insurance Fund and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is a medical panel hearing mandatory under Section 35-1-77 Utah Code Annotated when requested by an applicant in a workmen's compensation case?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Statement of the Nature of the Case

Lloyd Moore as petitioned this Court for the review and reversal of a denial of a Motion for review issued by the Industrial Commission of Utah on March 25, 1985 denying him a medical panel hearing on his workmen's compensation claim.

### Disposition of Case in Lower Court

Mr. Moore had requested a medical panel hearing on his workmen's compensation claim preceeding a decision on his claim. A medical panel hearing was denied and a decision entered without benefit of having his treating physician's testimony at a medical panel hearing. Mr. Moore filed a motion for review with the Industrial Commission requesting a mandatory medical panel hearing. That motion was denied on March 25, 1985 and this petition for review follows.

### Statement of Facts

Mr. Moore was first injured in an industrial accident on April 10, 1979 while employed by the American Coal Company. The injury was to his right knee. In a decision, issued September 16, 1982 he was found to be 43% impaired and compensated accordingly. (R. 341-346)

Thereafter, additional surgery was performed on Mr. Moore's right knee and a claim made for additional benefits.

(R. 373) A second hearing was held June 28, 1984 following surgery of January 29, 1984. At the time of the second hearing Mr. Moore was then awaiting more surgery to be performed by Dr. Sherman Coleman at the University of Utah School of Medicine who was going to perform total knee replacement surgery on Mr. Moore's right knee. That surgery took place in September, 1984. Thereafter a second medical panel examined Mr. Moore and concluded that the additional surgery performed on his right knee in January 1984 and the total knee replacement surgery of September 1984 was not caused by or related to the industrial injury of April 10, 1979. (R.398-401)

A timely objection to the medical panel report was filed with the Industrial Commission (R. 404) on February 6, 1985. The administrative law judge denied the objection and declined to schedule a medical panel hearing because no conflicting testimony had been proffered with the objections to the medical panel report. The administrative law judge then entered his Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (R. 405-407) based solely on the medical panel report without permitting Mr. Moore to produce testimony from his treating physicians that both the January, 1984 surgery and the knee joint replacement surgery of September, 1984 were both directly related to his industrial injury of April 10, 1979.

A timely Motion for Review was filed on behalf of Mr. Moore (R. 409) and it was denied (R. 414) leading to this petition for review.

#### Summary of Argument

A medical panel hearing is mandatory under Section 35-1-77 Utah Code Annotated when objections are filed to a medical panel report.

#### ARGUMENT

Recently this Court decided the case of Johnson v. Moore Business Forms, 694 P.2d 597 (Utah 1984). In the Johnson case the Court ruled that the appointment of an impartial panel was mandatory under the Utah Occupational Disease Disability law Utah Code Ann., 1953, § 35-2-1 to -2-65 because the act required that "the Commission shall appoint an impartial medical panel. . . ." Utah Code Annotated, 1953, § 35-2-56(2) (Supp. 1983) (emphasis added.) The statute was mandatory in language and the Industrial Commission was not free to ignore the clear requirement of the statute. The Court also cited Schmidt v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 617 P.2d 693 (1980) and Lipman v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 592 P.2d 616 (1969) which required the appointment of a medical panel in all workmen's compensation cases. Again it was the mandatory language of the statute which clearly required the appointment of the medical panel.

Just as Utah Code Ann., 1953, §35-1-77 requires the appointment of a medical panel in mandatory language, it also requires in mandatory language the holding of a medical panel hearing when objection is made by any party to the medical panel report. The law says:

If objections to such report are filed it shall be the duty of the commission to set the case for hearing within thirty days to determine the facts and issues involved. . . .

It is not within the discretion or power of the Industrial Commission to ignore the clear requirement of the statute and decline to set a medical panel hearing when an objection to the medical panel report is made whether conflicting medical evidence is or is not proffered or for any other reason. A hearing must be set and held within thirty days of the objection.

#### CONCLUSION

Mr. Moore is entitled to have the decision of the Industrial Commission denying him a medical panel hearing reversed and the case remanded to the Industrial Commission with instructions that a hearing be set and held in accordance with statutory requirements.