1986

Lloyd L. Moore v. American Coal Company, aka Emery Mining Corporation, Utah State Insurance Fund and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

There are two issues presented for review. The first is whether the provisions of Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated, as amended in 1982, require an Administrative Law Judge of the Industrial Commission to set and hold a hearing to determine the facts and issues involved when an applicant for workers' compensation benefits files objections to the report of the medical panel in his case. The second is whether the amended statute or the law as it existed at the time the applicant initiated proceedings on his claims for workers' compensation benefits ought to be applied.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTE

The statute whose interpretation is determinative of the first issue presented for review is Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated (1985 Supp.), which reads as follows:

out of or in the course of employment, and where the employer or insurance carrier denies liability, the commission may refer the medical aspects of the case to a medical panel appointed by the commission and having the qualifications generally applicable to the medical panel set forth in Section 35-2-56. The medical panel shall then make such study, take such X-rays and perform such tests, including post-mortem examinations where authorized by the commission, as it may determine and thereafter make a report in writing to the commission in a form prescribed by the commission, and also make such additional findings as the commission may require. The commission shall promptly distribute full copies of the report of the panel to the applicant, the employer and the insurance carrier by registered mail with return receipt requested. Within fifteen days after such report is deposited in the United States post office, the applicant, the employer or the insurance carrier may file with the commission objections in writing thereto. If no objections are so filed within such period, the report shall be deemed admitted in evidence and the commission may base its finding and decision on the report of the panel, but shall not be bound by such report if there is other substantial conflicting evidence in the case which supports a contrary finding by the commission. If objections to such report are filed the commission may set the case for hearing to determine the facts and issues involved, and at such hearing any party so desiring may request the commission to have the chairman of the medical panel present at the hearing for examination and cross-examination. For good cause shown the commission may order other members of the panel, with or without the chairman, to be present at the hearing for examination and cross-examination. Upon such hearing the written report of the panel may be received as an exhibit but shall not be considered as evidence in the case except as far as it is sustained by the testimony admitted. The expenses of such study and report by the medical panel and of their appearance before the commission shall be paid out of the fund provided for by section 35-1-68.

APPLICABLE RULES

In order to prevent an arbitrary use of the discretion granted the Commission in Section 35-1-77, the Commission promulgated rules and regulations to govern procedure under the statute. The relevant provision of the Commission's "Guidelines For Utilization of Medical Panel" reads as follows:

A hearing on objections to the panel report may be scheduled if there is a proffer of conflicting medical testimony or an indication that all relevant medical evidence was not considered by the panel.

Workers' Compensation Rules and Regulations - Procedure, 1.2.33(c). The Rules and Regulations are reproduced in full in the addendum to this brief, as is Section 35-1-10, Utah Code Ann. (1953), pursuant to which the Commission adopts and publishes rules and regulations governing procedure before it.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose upon appellant Lloyd L. Moore's claims for medical expenses and compensation for time off work from his employer, American Coal Company. The injury on which he bases his claims occurred on April 6, 1979. (R. 373.) An Administrative Law Judge of the Industrial Commission of Utah considered the matter in an evidentiary hearing June 28, 1984, and appointed a medical panel to review the medical issues involved. (R. 377 through 389.) The panel found no medical connection between Mr. Moore's industrial injury and the medical treatments or time off work for which he sought compensation. (R. 398 through 401.) Mr.

Moore objected to the panel's finding, stating that in the opinion of his treating physicians, the panel's conclusion was incorrect. (R. 404.) In the absence of a proffer of the physicians' opinion, the Administrative Law Judge admitted the panel report into evidence, adopted its findings as his own, and denied Mr. Moore's claims. (R. 405 through 407.) Mr. Moore sought the Industrial Commission's review of the judge's order on the ground that Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated, requires a "medical panel hearing" to be held when requested by a party who objects to the findings of the medical panel. (R. 409 through 410.) The Commission denied the motion for review and affirmed the Administrative Law Judge's order. (R. 414.) Mr. Moore then petitioned this Court for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, Lloyd L. Moore, slipped on a piece of coal and twisted his right leg (R. 16) while in the employ of the respondent American Coal Company on April 6, 1979. (R. 1.) Mr. Moore had injured his right knee while in the military in the 1950's and, in approximately 1965, doctors performed a medial meniscectomy on his right knee. (R. 398.) Following his industrial injury in 1979, he underwent posteromedial reconstruction of the knee in June of 1979, anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction in June of 1980, and arthroscopic debridement of the lateral joint compartment of the knee in September 1981. (R. 324, 325 and 362.) The respondent Utah State Insurance Fund, as American Coal Company's workers' compensation insurer, paid the

medical expenses of the 1979 and 1980 surgeries, and compensation for temporary total disability from April 6, 1979 through April 5, 1981. (R. 9.) When the State Insurance Fund denied liability for the September 1981 surgery, and terminated compensation, Mr. Moore filed a claim with the Industrial Commission and a hearing on the matter was held November 23, 1981. (R. 10-58.) Following the hearing, a medical panel was appointed to examine Mr. Moore and his medical records. (R. 319-320.) The medical panel found that the 1979 and 1981 surgeries were all required as a result of the industrial injury, but specifically stated that "no further medical therapy, physical therapy or surgery is indicated as a result of the industrial injury." (R. 326.) In January and September of 1984, Mr. Moore underwent further surgery on his right knee, a Coventry osteotomy in January and a total knee replacement in September. (R. 398-401.) When he presented his claim for the January surgery to the State Insurance Fund, he was denied. (R. 374-375.) He again requested a hearing. The hearing was held June 28, 1984, and Mr. Moore's medical records were introduced into evidence. (R. 377-389). The Administrative Law Judge referred him to a medical panel, which met January 10, 1985, and again examined Mr. Moore and once more reviewed his records. (R. 392-393.) The panel found that the surgeries which were performed subsequent to the initial hearing were not necessitated by the industrial injury and that Mr. Moore had not been temporarily totally disabled as a result of that injury since the date the panel had previously found his condition to have

stabilized, June 13, 1981. (R. 398-401.) Mr. Moore objected to the medical panel report "for the reason that the conclusion of the panel that the total knee replacement operation was unrelated to his April, 1979 industrial injury is, in the opinion of his treating physicians, clearly incorrect." (R. 404.)

The opinions of Mr. Moore's treating physicians were not proffered with his objection, and the Administrative Law Judge issued findings of fact, conclusions of law and an order in which he denied the objections and adopted the findings of the medical panel as his own. (R. 405-408.) Mr. Moore then made a motion for review of the matter by the Industrial Commission "for the reason that the order was entered despite the claimant having filed an objection to findings of the medical panel and requesting that a medical panel hearing be scheduled." (R. 409.) The Industrial Commission denied the motion. (R. 414.) This appeal followed, appellant arguing that "a medical panel hearing is mandatory under Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated when objections are filed to a medical panel report." (Brief of Appellant, p. 3.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I

Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Annotated, as amended in 1982, provides that the Industrial Commission may set a case for hearing to determine the facts and issues involved when a party objects to the findings reported by a medical panel to whom the Commission has referred the medical aspects of the case. It is within the Commission's discretion to set a case for what is termed a

"medical panel hearing." Under the amended Section 35-1-77, the hearing is not mandatory. The decision to set a hearing on objections is governed by the "Guidelines for Utilization of Medical Panel" adopted by the Commission as part of its rules and regulations governing procedure. The Guidelines provide that a hearing be set "if there is a proffer of conflicting medical testimony or an indication that all relevant medical evidence was not considered by the panel." When neither the proffer nor the indication described in the Guidelines arise in a case, the Commission properly uses its discretion in determining the matter without setting a medical panel hearing.

II

Remedial statutes which do not create new rights or destroy existing rights are applied retrospectively to accrued or pending actions. Marshall v. Industrial Commission of State of Utah, 704 P.2d 581, 582 (Utah 1985). Section 35-1-77 does not enlarge, eliminate, or destroy existing rights. Therefore, the 1982 amended section, rather than the section which required the setting of a medical panel hearing, applied to Mr. Moore's case. The Administrative Law Judge and the Commission acted within their discretion and according to established rules of procedure in ruling on the case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SECTION 35-1-77, UTAH CODE ANN. (SUPP. 1985),
LEAVES THE DECISION TO SET OBJECTIONS TO

MEDICAL PANEL REPORTS FOR HEARING WITHIN THE COMMISSION'S DISCRETION; THEREFORE, THE FACT THAT THE COMMISSION AFFIRMED THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE'S DECISION WITHOUT FURTHER HEARING ON THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT ENTITLE THE APPELLANT TO REVERSAL OF THE COMMISSION'S DECISION.

Section 35-1-77, Utah Code Ann., sets forth the procedures to be followed by the Industrial Commission of Utah upon the filing by an employee of a claim for compensation when the employer or its insurance carrier denies liability for the employee's claim. It provides that a medical panel may be appointed to determine the medical aspects of the case; that the panel shall study the case and make a report in writing on its medical aspects; that the report shall be distributed to the parties, who are given fifteen days within which to object to the report; and, that if there are no objections, the report shall be deemed admitted in evidence. The sixth sentence of Section 35-1-77 contains the material which is pertinent to this appeal:

If objections to such report are filed the commission may set the case for hearing to determine the facts and issues involved, and at such hearing any party so desiring may request the commission to have the chairman of the medical panel present at the hearing for examination and cross-examination.

(Emphasis added.) Prior to 1982, the sixth sentence of Section 35-1-77 read as it appears in appellant's brief:

If objections to such report are filed it shall be the duty of the commission to set the case for hearing within thirty days to determine the facts and issues involved . . .

In 1982, the legislature amended the sixth sentence of Section 35-1-77, substituting "the commission may" for "it shall be the

duty of the commission to." The Commission then adopted and published guidelines which it and its Administrative Law Judges follow to determine whether or not to set a hearing on objections in a given case. Therefore, at the time the Administrative Law Judge considered Mr. Moore's objections to the findings of the medical panel, in February and March of 1984, it was within his discretion to set the case for further hearing or make a decision based on the evidence before him. The Administrative Law Judge analyzed the case in accordance with the Commission's guidelines, and finding no proffer of conflicting medical testimony or indication that all relevant medical evidence was not considered by the panel, he did not set a hearing on Mr. Moore's objections.

Mr. Moore attempts to rely on the language of the unamended version of Section 35-1-77, making no reference to the change wrought by the 1982 amendment, and basing his argument that he is entitled to reversal of the Industrial Commission's decision on Johnson v. Moore Business Forms, 694 P.2d 597 (Utah 1984), Schmidt v. Industrial Commission, 617 P.2d 693 (Utah 1980), and Lipman v. Industrial Commission, 592 P.2d 616 (Utah 1969). Each of these cases dealt with the issue whether convening a medical panel was mandatory under statutes which contained the language "shall refer" or "shall appoint" a medical panel. Both Lipman and Schmidt ruled medical panels mandatory under Section 35-1-77 of the Workers' Compensation Act. Johnson held medical panels mandatory under Section 35-2-56(2) of the Utah Occupational Disease Disability Law. Mr. Moore argues that just as the

appointment of a medical panel was found mandatory in these cases, setting a medical panel hearing when objection is made to the panel report is also mandatory. However, in Johnson, the Court noted that in 1982 the legislature amended Section 35-1-77 to make convening of a medical panel discretionary. 694 P.2d 597, 599 footnote 1. The legislature substituted "may" for "shall" in the first sentence of Section 35-1-77, which deals with referral to a medical panel. According to the Court in Johnson, this amendment "effectively reversed Schmidt" on the issue whether referral to a medical panel is mandatory under the section. Id.

The substitution of "may" for "shall" in the first sentence of Section 35-1-77 gave the Commission the discretion to convene a medical panel. So too, the substitution of "may" for "it shall be the duty of the commission to" in the sixth sentence of Section 35-1-77 leaves the decision whether to set a case for further hearing upon objections to the medical panel report within the Commission's discretion. The Commission's discretion is governed by the "Guidelines for Utilization of Medical Panel" adopted by the Commission. The "Guidelines" read, in pertinent part:

A hearing on objections to the panel report may be scheduled if there is a proffer of conflicting medical testimony or an indication that all relevant medical evidence was not considered by the panel.

Workers' Compensation Rules and Regulations - Procedure, 1.2.33(c). Mr. Moore is not "entitled" to a hearing on objections, nor is he "entitled" to have the Commission's decision

reversed, as he argues in his brief. The Commission's decision complied fully with the law. There was not a proffer of conflicting medical testimony nor was there an indication that all relevant medical evidence was not considered by the panel in this case. The records of Mr. Moore's treating physicians were introduced as evidence at his hearing and forwarded to the panel.

In light of these facts, the Commission's decision cannot be said to be arbitrary, capricious, wholly without cause, or contrary to the one inevitable conclusion from the evidence. Rather, it is supported by the evidence and the reports of two qualified medical panels. It was made in accordance with the statute, and in accordance with the rules adopted by the Commission to prevent any abuse of the discretion Section 35-1-77 allows. It should not be displaced on review.

POINT II

THE 1982 AMENDMENT TO THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 35-1-77 PERTINENT TO THIS CASE IS PROCEDURAL IN NATURE AND APPLIES RETROSPECTIVELY TO CLAIMS SUCH AS APPELLANT'S WHICH ACCRUED OR WERE PENDING PRIOR TO THE TIME OF THE AMENDMENT.

Mr. Moore's brief does not mention the 1982 amendments to Section 35-1-77, which fact leads to the assumption that he thinks the unamended Section, found in the bound 1953 volume of Utah Code Annotated, controls his case. The injury to which he ascribes the need for his 1984 medical treatment occurred in 1979 and the Industrial Commission first reviewed claims stemming from it in 1981. The argument that the law in effect at the initiation

of proceedings is the law that controls throughout a case is one the State and the Department of Social Services likewise made in State, Dept. of Social Services v. Higgs, 656 P.2d 998 (Utah 1982)). There, the State contested the district court's dismissal of its complaint for review of an administrative order sustaining certain employee grievances filed by the defendants. The statutory grievance procedures in effect at the time the defendants initiated their action had provided for a five-step administrative review of employees' grievances and authorized either the State or employee(s) to seek judicial review of the administrative decision following the fifth step which was a hearing before a state hearing officer. During the administrative proceedings, however, the grievance statute was amended to establish a sixth level of administrative review before a personnel review board. The district court applied the amended statute and dismissed the State's complaint, ruling the State had failed to exhaust its administrative remedies. The State appealed, and this Court analyzed its arguments on appeal as follows:

The State argues that the law in effect at the time the legal proceedings are initiated controls all the proceedings from that point forward. It relies for that proposition on Union Pacific Railroad Co. v. Trustees, Inc., 8 Utah 2d 101, 329 P.2d 398 (1958); McCarrey v. Utah State Teachers' Retirement Bd., 111 Utah 251, 177 P.2d 725 (1947); and In re Ingraham's Estate, 106 Utah 337, 148 P.2d 340 (1944). These authorities state the well-established rule that statutory enactments which affect substantive or vested rights generally operate only prospectively. Under the cases cited, the substantive law to be applied throughout an action is the law in effect at the date the action was initiated.

State v. Carney, 163 Ohio St. 159, 126 N.E.2d 449 (1955). Since the State had the right of judicial review upon completion of Step 5 under the law in effect at the initiation of the administrative proceedings, the State asserts that it may not be deprived of that right by a subsequent change in the law.

656 P.2d 998, 1000. The Court's response to this argument was:

However, procedural statutes enacted subsequent to the initiation of a suit which do not enlarge, eliminate, or destroy vested or contractual rights apply not only to future actions, but also to accrued and pending actions as well Generally, new procedural rules do not affect proceedings completed prior to enactment Further proceedings in a pending case are governed by the new law

656 P.2d, 998, 1001 (citations omitted.) As in Higgs, in this case the statute outlining the procedures to be followed in resolving Mr. Moore's claims was amended during the pendency of and proceedings on his claims. The amendments to Section 35-1-77 did not enlarge, eliminate or destroy any vested right or change the substantive law of the Workers' Compensation Act. Mr. Moore's rights to potential recovery of medical expenses and payment for time off work have not been diminished or altered. The proceedings before the Industrial Commission on his claims were governed by the new law and neither the Administrative Law Judge nor the Commission was required to set or hold a hearing on his objections to the medical panel report.

CONCLUSION

Section 35-1-77 of the Workers' Compensation Act, Utah Code Annotated (1985 Supp.), was amended in 1982 to make the setting of

a medical panel hearing discretionary. The amendment, varying only the established procedure for review of workers' claims, operated in furtherance of a remedy which already existed. It did not create new rights or destroy the existing rights of the appellant herein. As the Court stated in Marshall v. Industrial Commission of State of Utah, 704 P.2d 581 (Utah 1985),

This Court has consistently held that in worker's compensation cases the benefits to be awarded to an injured worker are to be determined on the basis of the law as it existed at the time of the injury. As the Court said in Oakland Construction Co. v. Industrial Commission: "[A] later statute or amendment should not be applied in a retro-active manner to deprive a party of his rights or impose greater liability upon him."

We recognize that this rule differs from the general rule followed in this jurisdiction which is that "the substantive law to be applied throughout an action is the law in effect at the date the action was initiated." (Emphasis added.)

A contrary rule to both of the above applies, however, to statutes which operate in furtherance of a remedy already existing and which neither create new rights nor destroy existing rights. Those remedial statutes are applied retrospectively to accrued or pending actions to further the legislature's remedial purpose unless a contrary legislative intent is manifested.

704 P.2d 581, 582 (emphasis added.)

Therefore, on February 6, 1985, when the appellant herein objected to the report of the medical panel to which his claims had been referred, the Administrative Law Judge presiding over his case did not have a duty to set his objections for hearing. It was within his discretion, as controlled by established

guidelines, to set a hearing on objections. Absent a proffer of conflicting medical testimony or an indication that all relevant medical evidence had not been considered by the panel, he adopted the findings of the medical panel report as his own and denied Mr. Moore's claims. On review of his decision, the Industrial Commission adopted his findings of fact and conclusions of law in affirming his denial. On review, it was also within the Commission's discretion, pursuant to amended Section 35-1-77, to set the matter for further hearing.

On review by this Court, the Commission's findings should be displaced only if they are arbitrary, capricious, wholly without cause, contrary to the one inevitable conclusion from the evidence, or without any substantial evidence to support them. Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Monfredi, 631 P.2d 888, 890 (Utah 1981). In this case, the Commission's findings were not arbitrary or capricious but within its discretion under Section 35-1-77, and were based on the evidence accumulated during two hearings, the findings of two qualified, duly appointed medical panels, together with records from all of the appellant's treating physicians. Given these facts and the controlling authorities cited above, the Commission's findings should be affirmed.